JIMMAUNIVESITY **COLLEGE OF NATURAL SCIENCES** SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES **DEPARTMENT OF CHEMISTRY**



M.Sc THESIS

ON

PHYTOCHEMICAL INVESTIGATION OF SEEDS OF Persicaria lapathifolia AND **EVALUATION OF ITS ANTIMICROBIAL ACTIVITIES**

OCTOBER, 2017

JIMMA, ETHIOPIA

PHYTOCHEMICAL INVESTIGATION OF SEEDS OF *Persicaria lapathifolia* AND EVALUATION OF ITS ANTIMICROBIAL ACTIVITIES

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO SCHOOL OF GRADUTE STUDIES JIMMA UNIVERSITY IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIRMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN CHEMISTRY(ORGANIC)

BY

ASHENAFI HAILEMARIAM

ADVISORS NEGERA ABDISSA (PhD) MELKAMU FEYERA (M.Sc)

Graduate Thesis Ownership Agreement

This thesis is a property of Jimma University, an institution that awarded MSc/PhD Degree to the graduate student and funded its research cost fully or partly. The research work was accomplished under the close support and supervision of the assigned University's academic staff. It is therefore strictly forbidden to publish, modify, or communicate to or put at the disposal of third party the entire document or any part thereof without the <u>common consent of the research supervisor(s) and the graduate student</u>. Disregarding this agreement would lead to accountability according to the Jimma University's Research and Publication Misconduct Policy **Article 1.7** of the University's Document for "Guidelines and Procedures for Research, March 2012".

Name of the Graduate Student	Signature	Date
Ashenafi Hailemariam		
Name (s) of the Research Supervisor (s)	Signature	Date
Negera Abdissa (PhD)		<u> </u>
Melkamu Feyera (M.Sc)		

Title of the Thesis: PHYTOCHEMICAL INVESTIGATION OF SEEDS OF *Persicaria lapathifolia* AND EVALUATION OF ITS ANTIMICROBIAL ACTIVITIES.

Degree Awarded: MSc/PhD (Encircle one)

College of Natural Sciences, Jimma University

Advisors	Signature	Date
1) Negera Abdissa (PhD)		
Chemistry Department		
College of Natural Sciences		
Jimma University		
2) Melkamu Feyera (M.Sc)	
Chemistry Department		
College of Natural Sciences		
Jimma University		
Examiners		
External Examiner		
Internal Examinar		
Department Head		

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this thesis work to my father Mr. Humnesa Chibsa and my mother Kabaye Mirkena.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my advisors Dr. Negera Abdissa and Mr. Melkamu Feyera for their continuous and valuable guidance, and material supports for the accomplishment of this research. Special thanks to Dr. Negera Abdissa for generating spectroscopic data for the compounds in Germany. I would like to also extend my thanks to staff members of department of chemistry for their moral support to continue in progress during this research work.

It is also my great pleasure to thank Jimma University, College of Natural Science and department of Chemistry for material facilitation and support for this research work. I also thank department of Biology, Jimma University, Bielefeld University of Germany and Ginchi preparatory School staff members for their kind support and encouragement. I wish to sincerely acknowledge the International Foundation for Sciences (IFS, Grant No: F/5778-1) for the chemical support including solvent for extraction and isolation of the compounds.

My sincere appreciation also goes to my family for their support and advice. I also acknowledge all postgraduate students and laboratory technicians in the department of Chemistry to have good time together during my study period. Finally, thanked to all that put a drop of contribution in any ways in my study.

Abstract

Large number of herbal remedies are used to treat microbial diseases; however, the efficacies of most of these plants have not been exhaustively investigated. Thus, the aim of this study was to isolate and characterize compounds from the seeds of *Persicaria lapathifolia* and evaluate their antimicrobial activities. The seeds of *Persicaria lapathafolia* were collected from Jimma University main campus. The air dried plant materials were ground and extracted sequentially with petroleum ether, chloroform and methanol by maceration at room temperature to give crude extract of 4 g, 34 g, and 36 g, respectively. The chloroform extract was selected for further purification following its better antibacterial activity. About 32 g of chloroform extract was subjected to column chromatography that led to the isolation of three pure compounds, named flavokawain B (1), cardamonin (2) and pashanone (3). Characterization of these compounds were done using spectroscopic techniques; mainly UV, 1D, 2D NMR, and MS. The crude extracts and isolated compounds were evaluated for their antibacterial and antifungal activity. All extracts and isolated compounds exhibited antifungal activity against Aspergillus spp and Fusarium spp. The chloroform and methanol extracts had significantly higher inhibitory effect (30 mm) against Aspergillus spp and also highest inhibition activity (15 mm) was observed for chloroform extract against E. coli. Compound 1 showed marginal activity against E. coli (9 mm), but no activity against S. aureus, Trichoderma spp and Penicillium spp. Whereas, compound 2 exhibited better zone of growth inhibition (18 mm) against S. aureus, and Trichoderma spp strains, which is comparable to that of gentamycin (19 mm) and clotrimazole (20 mm), respectively and no activity against E. coli. Compound 3 showed comparable activity against S. aureus (12 mm) and E. coli (13 mm), and also against Aspergillus spp and Fusarium spp (20 mm). Chloroform extract and compound 2 demonstrated significant antibacterial and antifungal activities with highest zone of growth inhibition against S. aureus and Trichoderma spp. which are comparable to that of reference drugs.



List of Abbreviations

1D NMR	One Dimensional	Nuclear	Magnetic	Resonance

- 2D NMR Two Dimensional Nuclear magnetic Resonance
- ATCC American Type Culture Collection
- COSY Correlation Spectroscopy
- DMSO Dimethyl Sulfoxide
- HMBC Heteronuclear Multiple Bond Correlation
- HMQC Heteronuclear Multiple Quantum Coherence
- MS Mass Spectrometry
- MHz Mega Hertz
- NOESY Nuclear Overhauser and Exchange Spectroscopy
- TLC Thin Layer Chromatography

Contents	Page
Acknowledgments	v
Abstract	vi
List of abbreviations	vii
Table of contents	viii
List of figures	xi
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background of the study	1
1.1.2 Natural products as a source of drug discovery	1
1.2 Statement of the problem	
1.3 Objectives of the study	4
1.3.1 General objective	4
1.3.2 Specific objectives	4
1.4 Significance of the study	4
2. Review of Related Literature	5
2.1 Botanical information	5
2.1.1 The family <i>Polygonaceae</i>	5
2.1.2 The genus <i>Persicaria</i>	5
2.1.3 Persicaria lapathifolium	5
2.4 Ethno medicinal uses of the genus Persicaria	6
2.5 Compounds from the genus Persicaria	7
2.6 Pharmacological effects	
2.7 Biosynthetic pathway of chalcone	
3. Materials and Methods	

Table of Contents

3.1 Materials	
3.1.1 Chemicals	
3.1.2 Apparatus and Equipment	
3.2 Methods	
3.2.1 Collection and preparation of the plant specimens	
3.3 Extraction	
3.4 Isolation	13
3.5 Identification of compounds	13
3.6 Antibacterial and antifungal activities test	13
3.6.1 Test strains	13
3.6.2 Bioassay	13
4. Results and Discussion	15
4.1 Result for extraction and isolated of secondary metabolites from seed of P. lap	oathifolia . 15
4.2 Characterization of the isolated compounds	16
4.2.1 Characterization of compound 1	16
4.2.2 Characterization of compound 2	
4.2.3 Characterization compound 3	
4.3 Antimicrobial activities	
5. Conclusion and Recommendations	
5.1 Conclusion	24
5.2 Recommendations	
References	
Appendixes	

List of Tables

Table Page
Table 1: Pharmacological effects of some extracts and compounds from some Persicaria 12
Table 2: ¹ H (500 MHz) and ¹³ C (125 MHz) NMR data of compound 1 (in CDCl ₃) and
flavokawain B17
Table 3: 1 H (500 MHz), 13 C (125 MHz) and HMBC NMR data of compound 2 (in acetone-d ₆) 21
Table 4: ¹ H (500 MHz), ¹³ C (125 MHz) and HMBC NMR data of compound 3 (in CDCl ₃) 23
Table 5: Inhibition zone (mm) of crude extracts and isolated compounds for bacteria and fungal
strains

List of Figures

Figure	Page
Figure: 1. Persicaria lapathifolium	
Figure: 2. Compounds from the genus Persicaria	11
Figure: 3. Scheme for biosynthesis of chalcone	11
Figure: 4. Extraction, isolation and purification of Persicaria lapathifolia seed	15
Figure: 5. Structure of compound 1	17
Figure: 6. HMBC and NOESY spectra for compound 1	
Figure: 7. Structure of compound 2	
Figure: 8. HMQC and HMBC spectra for compound 2	
Figure: 9. Structure of compound 3	

1. Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

Many infectious diseases have been known to be treated with herbal remedies throughout the history of mankind. Even today, medicinal plants continue to play a major role in primary health care as therapeutic remedies in many developing countries [1]. The discovery of medicinal plants in different parts of the world is important both to the agriculture and medicine sectors, for the establishment of new directions towards propagation of alternative medicinal crops that offer better economic and social benefits [2].

The control of microbial infection has been remarkably effective since the discovery of antibacterial drugs [2]. However, the emergency of resistance pathogens limits the therapeutic uses of many of the drugs that are in the market and undesirable side effects associated to certain antibiotics have led to the search of new antimicrobial agents from medicinal plants [3]. Higher plants have been shown to be a potential source for new antimicrobial agents. The screening of plant extracts has been of a great interest to scientist for the discovery of new drugs effective in the treatment of several diseases. A number of reports concerning the antibacterial screening of plant extracts of medicinal plants have appeared in the literatures [4].

1.1.2 Natural Products as a Source of Drug Discovery

Most of the currently available drugs for the treatment of different human and animal diseases obtained from natural products, especially medicinal plants [5-8]. Such drugs have been discovered after observing the medicinal use of a particular plant or its parts (leaves, roots, barks, fruits or seed or whole plant) by herbalists and subsequent isolation of bioactive compounds from the plant or part of the plant that had been used traditionally for the treatment of different human illnesses [5-8]. Moreover, some compounds obtained from natural sources have also been used as leads or precursors that can be modified synthetically to improve their therapeutic activities [5, 6].

Introduction and development of several new and highly specific *in vitro* bioassay techniques, chromatographic methods, spectroscopic techniques and other standardized pharmacological methods have also made it much easier to screen, isolate and identify potential drug and precisely from natural sources to alleviate human illnesses [9-12]. There are several reasons that necessitate isolation and characterization of bioactive compounds. Some of the reasons are: distribution of

medicinal plants is not uniform throughout the world to be used by people everywhere; most of the medicinal plants are under threat of extinction due to climate changes and population pressure [13, 14]; isolation and purification of compounds from natural sources is tedious, expensive and time consuming process; and the need to identify the chemical compounds that are responsible for the observed medicinal value of the plant. Once, such compounds are known and their properties and structures determined they can be prepared synthetically without relying on plants.

In addition, the amounts of bioactive compounds obtained from medicinal plants are very small and thereby many plants should be destroyed to harvest significant quantities of such compounds for disease treatment [15, 16]. All these facts necessitated for isolation and characterization of bioactive compounds from medicinal plants and subsequently synthesize them in large scales in laboratories or industries in reasonable costs [11, 16].

It is estimated that today, plant materials have provided the models for 50% modern drugs [17, 18]. The search for plants as a source of potential candidate for drug development is still unsound. From the total of 250,000 to 500,000 species of plants available on earth only 1-10% are being potentially used [19]. Even today, traditional medicine is still the predominant means of health care in developing countries where about 80% of their total population depends on it for their well-being [20], while in Ethiopia about 90% of the populations use traditional medicine for health care needs due to acceptability, availability and affordability [21].

Therefore, traditional medicinal plants are the basis for the development of modern drugs and it has been used for many years in daily life to treat disease all over the world [22] is still wide spread. One of the plant species that is known for its medicinal value is *Persicaria lapathifolia* in folk medicine for its anti-inflammatory, antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal and in the treatment of dysentery. Extracts from aerial part of *P. lapathifolium* have also anthelmintic and anti-emetic properties [23].

The rapidly increasing incidence of antibacterial resistance and the problems presented by antimicrobial agents added in food and public pressure on the food industry to avoid chemical preservatives are the main factors justifying the search and development of new antimicrobial agents, especially from those of natural origin [24]. Therefore, this study was to identify secondary metabolites from the seed of *P. lapathifolia* and evaluate its antimicrobial activities.

1.2 Statement of the problem

Infectious diseases are caused by pathogenic microorganisms, such as bacteria, viruses, or fungi. Infectious diseases have been affecting the global health and economic status and problem in both developed and developing countries accounting approximately for one half of all deaths in tropical countries [25]. However, the emergency of resistance pathogens limits the therapeutic uses of many of the drugs that are in the market and undesirable side effects associated to certain antibiotics have led to the search of new antimicrobial agents from medicinal plants [3].Traditionally, people in Ethiopia have been used medicinal plants to treat different disease and also it has great contribution in primary health care systems [26]. However, most of the existing medicinal plants, mainly those which have documented in traditional uses have not been well investigated for identification of their bioactive principles. *P. lapathifolium* is one of the ethno medicinal plants that have been used for the treatment of different alignments including infections during delivery in local medicine, the phytochemical pertaining this plant and its antibiotic activity has not been addressed. Therefore, the present study focused on the isolation and identification of compounds from this plant and evaluation of its antimicrobial activities.

1.3 Objectives of the study

1.3.1 General objective

The main objective of this study was to investigate secondary metabolites from the seed of *P*. *lapathifolia* and evaluate its antimicrobial activity.

1.3.2 Specific objectives

The specific objectives of this study were:

- To isolate secondary metabolites from the seed extract of *P. lapathifolia* using chromatographic techniques;
- To elucidate the structures of the isolated compounds using spectroscopic techniques, (UV-Vis, 1D, 2D NMR and MS) and
- To evaluate the activities of the crude extracts and isolated compounds against two bacterial strains (*Staphylococccus aureus*, and *Escherichia coli*) and four fungal strains (*Aspergillus spp, Trichoderma spp, Fusarium spp* and *Penicillium spp*).

1.4 Significance of the study

The result of this study would help to

- > Identify compounds that are used as antibacterial and antifungal agents in this plant.
- The chemical constituents of this plant provide baseline information for future pharmacological and bio prospecting studies.
- > Use this finding for further phytochemical studies on the plant species.
- The discovery of natural products is also important as a means to further refine systems of plant classification.

2. Review of Related Literature

2.1 Botanical Information

2.1.1 The Family Polygonaceae

The family *Polygonaceae* is one of the flowering plants that comprises about 50 genera and 1200 species [27, 28]. The largest genera are Eriogonum (240 species), Rumex (200 species), Coccoloba (120 species), *Persicaria* (100 species) and Calligonum (80 species). The family is distributed worldwide, but is most diverse in the North Temperate Zone [29]. The name *Polygonaceae* is believed to be derived from "*Polygonum*" from the Greek poly, "many" and gonu, "knee" referring to the swollen-jointed stem.

Many species are aquatic and naturally grow in the swampy area as floating plants in the rivers or ponds. The leaves vary in shape between lanceolate to oval forms, with the height range from 1 to 30 cm. The stems are usually red, reddish and sometime red-speckled. Generally, flowers are formed in dense clusters from the leaf joints and the youngest are white, pink or greenish [30].

2.1.2 The Genus Persicaria

The genus *Persicaria* sometimes called *Polygonum*, found all over the world. They contain diverse pharmacologically active constituents with various properties [31]. The species under the genus are predominantly herbs, found in tropical and temperate regions [30]. Some species are important in traditional medicines. Many of its species and their active principles have been studied for phytochemical screening, biological and pharmacological purposes. Some of them have shown efficacy in the prevention and treatment of diseases such as cancer, malaria, gastric ulcers, bacterial and fungal infections; their toxic effects have also been evaluated [32].

2.1.3 Persicaria lapathifolium L.

Persicaria lapathifolium L.(syn. *Persicaria lapathifolia* (L.) S. F. Gray, *Polygonaceae*) is widely distributed from the tropics in the northern hemisphere to the temperate zone and grows wildly on green fields, along rivers and on ditch banks [33].



Figure 1. Persicaria lapathifolium (Taken by Ashenafi; 05, June, 2017)

2.4 Ethno medicinal uses of the genus Persicaria

The *Persicaria* extract has been used in the folk medicine to cure urinary tract infections in China [34]. *P. cuspidatum* has been used to relieve joint pain, to treat jaundice caused by a bacterial infection or fungal problems and cough with a menorrheal expectoration. *P. cuspidatum* is also used as a decoction to treat liver diseases or as a cream for topical application in burns, wounds and traumatic injuries [35]. Currently it is used in different forms such as powder, decoction or infusion to cure hepatitis and several other diseases [36]. In Korea, the rhizomes of *P. cuspidatum* are commonly used to maintain oral and dental hygiene [37].

In traditional Chinese medicine, *P. multiflorum* has been used to treat mental and physical signs of aging, malaria, constipation and eczema. In Cameroonian traditional medicine, the raffia wine and aqueous extracts of the leaves of *P. limbatum* are respectively used to cure gastrointestinal disorders, venereal diseases and skin infections [38]. In India, preparations of *P. nepalense* are employed for the treatment of colds, influenza, swelling, hemorrhoids, diarrhea and rheumatism [39]. The juice extract of the whole plant is taken orally for fetal mal-position and the decoction is also taken orally for juvenile pregnancy in Cameroon [40]. In Argentina, *P. ferrurgineum* is used to heal infected wounds in local medicine and control several bacteria and fungi [41]. In Bangladesh *P. lapathifolium* is used as an insecticide [42]. In Brazil, *P. spectabile* is used by

indigenous people for the treatment of diarrhea, ulcers, gingivitis, skin infections and rheumatism [43]. *P. hydropiper* is used as spice to flavor foods by Chinese and Malaysian indigenous because of its strong peppery taste [44]. In Turkey, the roots of *P. amphibium* are very important in folk medicine and are used as an astringent and cleanser for skin [45, 46]; they are also eaten raw, or sometimes they are dried, pounded and the infusion is used in the treatment of chest colds [47]. These data show that the genus is widely distributed around the world and is being used on all continents to control numerous illnesses.

2.5 Compounds from the Genus Persicaria

Several investigations were carried out to determine the possible chemical components from *Persicaria* plants. This genus is also well known for producing a wide variety of metabolites including flavonoids [44], terpenoids [48], anthraquinones [49], coumarins [50], phenylpropanoids [51], lignans [52], sesquiterpenoids [53], stilbenoids [54], tannins [55], proteins, amino acids and carbohydrates [56], and sucrose phenyl propanoid esters [50]. Among them, flavonoids are the most common components found in *polygonum* spp. and have been used as chemotaxonomic markers of the genus [53].

Some of the bioactive compounds obtained from the *Persicaria* genus were presented in Fig 2 and Table 1 displays the pharmacological effects of some extracts and compounds isolated from some *Persicaria* plants. The compounds include 2',4'-dihydroxy-3',6'-dimethoxychalcone (1) [57, 67]; 2'-hydroxy-4',6'-dimethoxychalcone (2) [57]; cardamomin (3) [64]; 2',6'-dihydroxy-3',4'-dimethoxychalcone (4) [72]; (S)-Pinostrobin (5) [59]; (2S)-5-hydroxy-6,7-dimethoxyflavanone (6) [59]; (2S)-5,7-dimethoxyflavanone (7) [59]; 5-hydroxy-7-methoxyflavanone (pinostrobin) (8) [41, 57]; pinocernbrin (9) [60]; luteolin (10) [61]; apigenin (11) [62]; quercetin (12) [63]; isorhamnetin (13) [63]; physcion (14) [65]; emodin (15) [66]; chrysophanol (16) [59].

Chalcone



Flavanone







он о

MeO



Flavone





13

Anthraquinones



Figure 2. Compounds from the genus Persicaria

2.6 Pharmacological Effects

Plants	Extracts, compounds	Pharmacological effects	In vitro	Reference
P. spectabile	Ethyl acetate extract	Anti-Staphylococcus aureus	In vitro	[58]
	2'-hydroxy-4',6'- dimethoxychalcone (1)	Anti-Staphylococcus aureus	In vitro	
	2',4'-dihydroxy-3',6'- dimethoxychalcone (2)	Anti-Vero cells	In vitro	
P. limbatum	Cardamomin (3)	Leukemia (anticancer)	In vitro	[64]
		<i>Cervix</i> (anticancer)	In vitro	
	2',4'-dihydroxy-3',6'- dimethoxychalcone (2)	Leukemia (anticancer)	In vitro	
		Cervix (anticancer)	In vitro	
P. cuspidatum	Physcion (14)	Inhibition of melanogenesis effect	In vitro	[65]
	Emodin (15)	Anti-human prostate cancer cells	In vitro	[66]
P. senegalense	2',6'-dihydroxy-4'- methoxydihydrochalcone	Anti- plasmodium falciparum	In vitro	[67]
	2',4'-dihydroxy-3',6'- dimethoxychalcone (2)	Anti- plasmodium falciparum	In vitro	

Table 1. Pharmacological effects of some extracts and compounds isolated from some *Persicaria*.

2.7 Biosynthetic Pathway of Chalcone

The production of chalcones as natural products represents the convergence of two synthetic pathways; the acetate and the shikimate pathways. Chalcones are synthesized by sequential condensation of 3 molecules malonyl-CoA with one of p-coumaroyl-CoA. This reaction is carried out by the enzyme chalcones synthase (CHS). The final step is believed to be the cyclization of a tetra ketide precursor.



Figure 3. Scheme for biosynthesis of chalcone

3. Materials and Methods

3.1 Materials

3.1.1 Chemicals

All chemicals used were analytical grade. Solvents used for extraction of plant materials were petroleum ether, chloroform and methanol. Silica gel 60-120 mm size, silica gel coated TLC, iodine for detection of spots on TLC. CDCl₃ and acetone- d_6 solvent, DMSO, gentamicin, Mueller Hinton agar, nutrient agar and saline solution were used as a culture medium during antimicrobial test.

3.1.2 Apparatus and Equipment

Rotary evaporator (Heidolph, USA) for solvent evaporation, UV chamber (LF-206.LS, EEC) for detection of spots on TLC plate, Melting point apparatus (MFB 590010T, Griftin, Britain); UV-Visible photo-spectroscopy (JENWAY 6705, UK), column chromatography (300 mm (B-14/23, B-19/26) and 500 mm, (B-34/35); Smith Scientific Eden bridge; UK) for separation and purification techniques, mortar and pestle for grinding, and round bottom flask of size 250, 500, and 1000 mL, measuring cylinder, filter papers (cotton swab), weighing balances, oven, Bunsen burner, Vertical Laminar Flow Cabinet CLB-201-14, incubator, were used for this study.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Collection and Preparation of the Plant Specimens

The fresh plant material was collected from Oromia region, Jimma University main campus on October 2016. The collected plant material was chopped into smaller pieces and shade dried in chemistry laboratory department at room temperature. The air dried plant material was ground to small size to facilitate easy solvent penetration. The powdered plant material was stored in suitable container until used for extraction.

3.3 Extraction

The powdered plant material (865 g) was sequentially extracted with petroleum ether (2.5 L), chloroform (2.0 L), and methanol (2.0 L) based on increasing polarity for 72 hr with occasional shaking by maceration at room temperature. The filtrate was then separated from the mark using fresh cotton plug. The filtrate was concentrated using Rotary evaporator at 50 °C under reduced pressure then stored at room temperature.

3.4 Isolation

The chloroform extract that showed better antibacterial activity was selected for further isolation of the bioactive compounds. The chloroform crude extract (32 g) was adsorbed on 50 g silica gel and applied on column chromatography already packed with silica gel.

The column was first eluted using 100% petroleum ether, and then with increasing gradient of ethyl acetate in petroleum ether (1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 15, 30, 50, 70, 80 up to 100%) during chromatographic separation. The fractions were concentrated under reduced pressure using a Rotary evaporator at 50 °C. The fractions were examined by TLC and the spots developed were visualized under UV light at 254 and 365 nm and then by exposure to iodine vapor. The fractions that showed the same TLC profiles (Rf) were combined and concentrated to dryness under reduced pressure using Rotary evaporator.

3.5 Identification of compounds

The isolated compounds were characterized by the various spectral techniques namely; ¹H-NMR, ¹³C-NMR, HMBC, HMQC, NOESY, UV-Vis and MS.

3.6 Antibacterial and Antifungal Activities Test

3.6.1 Test strains

The crude extracts and isolated compounds were evaluated for *in vitro* antibacterial activities against two bacterial strains (*Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922, and *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 25923) and the antifungal activities against four fungus strains (*Aspergillus spp*, *Trichoderma spp*, *Fusarium spp* and *Penicillium spp*) by disc diffusion method. All strains obtained from Jimma University department of biology in microbiology laboratory culture collection.

3.6.2 Bioassay (Agar Disk Diffusion Method)

Agar disk diffusion method was used to evaluate the antibacterial and antifungal activities of both crude extract and isolated compounds on nutrient agar. Briefly, the bacteria stock cultures were maintained on the nutrient agar slants which were stored at 4 °C. Agar cultures of the test microorganisms were prepared according to manufacture instruction. The test solutions were prepared by dissolving 0.01 g ratio of plant extracts to achieve final stock concentrations of 100 mg/mL in DMSO. Freshly, grown liquid culture of the test pathogens solution of having similar turbidity with 0.5 McFarland were seeded over the Mueller-Hinton Agar medium with sterile swab.

Sterile Whatman filter paper discs (6 mm) were soaked with stock solution of the extract then placed over the seeded plates at equidistance. The plates were then inverted and incubated at 37 °C for 24 hr. After the incubated period, the plates were for observed a clearance zone around the disks which indicates a positive antibacterial activities of the respective plant extracts. The clear zones formed around each disk were measured in millimeter.

Bioassay for antifungal activities was the same method described for bacteria will be adopted. The inoculated medium will be incubated for three days. For each bacterial and fungal strain, the standard gentamicin and clotrimazole were taken as positive control respectively and pure solvent DMSO as the negative control.

•

4. Results and Discussion

4.1 Result for extraction and isolated of secondary metabolites from seed of P. lapathifolia

The air dried seed of *Persicaria lapathifolia* was sequentially extracted using petroleum ether, chloroform and methanol by maceration at room temperature to yield 4 g, 34 g and 36 g, respectively. The crude extract of chloroform (32 g) was subjected to column chromatography for further purifications. Chromatographic purification of the extract resulted in the isolation of three compounds; compounds **1**, **2** and **3** from 1%, 2% and 8% petroleum ether to ethyl acetate, respectively. The extraction, isolation, and purification of compounds process are summarized as follow.



Figure 4. Scheme for extraction, isolation and purification of *Persicaria lapathifolia* seed

4.2 Characterization of the isolated compounds

4.2.1 Characterization of compound 1

Compound **1** was isolated as yellow amorphous solid from fraction eluted with 1% ethyl acetate in petroleum ether. It showed melting point of 87-89 °C and UV spectrum maximum at (MeOH, λ_{max} , nm) were observed at 219 and 342 nm. The positive mode ESI-MS spectrum showed molecular ion peak of m/z 307 [M + Na]⁺ and 591 [2M + Na]⁺, both corresponding to the molecular formula C₁₇H₁₆O₄, which indicated ten degrees of unsaturations.

The ¹HNMR spectrum showed signals for ten protons (Table **2**) including highly downfield shifted signal at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 14.32 for phenolic hydroxyl group involved in hydrogen bonding. The presence of a typical carbonyl carbon signal at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 192.7 in ¹³CNMR spectrum and a *trans*-configured double bond ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.79, 1H, *d*, *J* = 15.6 Hz, H- α ; $\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.91, 1H, *d*, *J* = 15.6 Hz, H- β) confirmed the existence of the chalcone skeleton. The presence of five mutually coupled multiplet aromatic protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.60-7.39 confirmed by HMBC analysis has indicated mono-substituted aromatic ring A. In ring B, two upfield shifted (due to di-*ortho* oxygenation) *meta* coupled proton signals at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.96 (1H, *d*, 2.0) and 6.10 (1H, *d*, 2.0) where assigned to H-3' and H-5', respectively, which otherwise fully substituted with two methoxyl ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.90 and 3.82) and one hydroxyl ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 14.32) groups. The NOESY between all protons can be observed simultaneously. NOESY spectrum confirm that H-3' coupled on space with 4'-OCH₃ and H-5' coupled with 6'-OCH₃ and also H-5' coupled with 4'-OCH₃.

The ¹³C NMR spectrum (Table **2**) showed 17 carbon signals; which accounted for two methoxyl group, nine methine and six quaternary carbon atoms. The position of the methoxyl groups, $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.90 and 3.82 were established at C-6' ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 166.5) and C-4' ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 168.5), respectively based on their HMBC correlations to vicinal carbons. Whereas the hydroxyl group ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 14.32) was placed at C-2' ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 162.6) *peri* to carbonyl carbon.

These data are consistent with the compound being 2'-hydroxy-4', 6'-dimethoxychalcone; trivial name, flavokawain B, which was previously reported from *P. lapathifolium* and *P. ferrugineum* [41, 68].



Figure 5. Structure of compound 1

Table 2. ¹H (500 MHz) and ¹³C (125 MHz) NMR data of compound **1** (in CDCl₃) and flavokawain B.

Compound 1			Flavokawain B [6	[9]	
Position	$\delta_{\rm H} \left(J \text{ in Hz} \right)$	δc	HMBC	$\delta_{\rm H} (J \text{ in Hz})$	δc
1		135.7			135.7
2/6	7.60 (2H, <i>m</i>)	128.4	C-1, C-3, C-4, C-5, C-6, Cβ	7.61 (<i>dd</i> , 7.8, 1.2, 2H)	128.3
3/5	7.42 (2H, <i>m</i>)	128.9	C-1, C-2, C-4, C-5, C-6	7.42 (<i>dd</i> , 2H)	129.0
4	7.39 (1H, <i>m</i>)	127.6	C-2, C-3, C-5, C-6	7.39 (<i>t</i> , 1H)	127.7
α	7.79 (1H, <i>d</i> , 15.6)	130.1	C-1, CO	7.79 (<i>d</i> , 15.6, 1H)	130.2
β	7.91 (1H, <i>d</i> , 15.6)	142.3	C-1, C-2, C-6, CO	7.91 (<i>d</i> , 15.6, 1H)	142.5
1'		106.4			106.5
2'		162.6			162.6
3'	6.10 (1H, <i>d</i> , 2.0)	93.9	C-1', C-4', C-5'	6.10 (<i>d</i> , 2.4, 1H)	93.9
4'		168.5			168.5
5'	5.96 (1H, <i>d</i> , 2.0)	91.3	C-1', C-3', C-6'	5.96 (<i>d</i> , 2.4, 1H)	91.4
6'		166.5			166.4
6'-OCH ₃	3.90 (3H, s)	55.6	C-6'	3.90 (s, 3H)	55.7
4'-OCH ₃	3.82 (3H, <i>s</i>)	55.9	C-4'	3.84 (s, 3H)	56.0
2'-OH	14.32 (1H, s)			14.27 (s, 1H)	
СО		192.7			192.8



Figure 6. HMBC and NOESY for compound 1

4.2.2 Characterization of compound 2

The second compound **2** was isolated as red amorphous solid. It showed melting point 144-145 °C and UV spectrum maximum (MeOH, λ_{max} , nm) were observed at 221, 288 and 335 nm. The ESIMS of this compound showed a sodium adduct ion $[M + Na]^+$ at m/z 293 and $[2M + Na]^+$ at m/z 563, which is consistent with C₁₆H₁₄O₄ molecular formula.

The ¹H NMR spectral (Table **3**) features were virtually identical to that of compound **1** with the two downfield shifted proton signal at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 8.26 and 7.80 ($J = 15.6 \,{\rm Hz}$) for *trans*-configured α , β -unsaturated chalcone moiety and five mutually coupled aromatic protons ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.70-7.43) for mono substituted phenyl ring A. The only notable difference is observed in ring B, where the two upfield shifted *meta* coupled protons ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.96 and 6.10 (d, 2.0)) observed in compound **1** have been replaced with chemically equivalent two proton singlet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.04) in compound **2**. The chemical equivalency of these protons can only be happen if this ring is symmetric. Furthermore, the presence of only one methoxyl protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.82 and a chelated hydroxyl proton at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 12.02 allowed the placement of these groups at C-4' ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 167.3) and C-2' ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 165.5) respectively, supporting the aforementioned argument. Therefore, the two protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.04 were equivocally assigned to H-3' and H-5'.

The ¹³CNMR spectrum (Table **3**) showed 16 carbon signal including one methoyl group, nine methine and six quaternary carbon atoms. Therefore, based on these spectroscopic data, compound **2** was identified as 2', 6'-dihydroxy-4'-methoxychalcone, trivial name cardamonin, previously reported from bark of *Lindera umbellate* [70].

Compound 2						
Position	$\delta_{\rm H} \left(J \text{ in Hz} \right)$	δc	НМВС			
1		136.5				
2/6	7.44 (2H, <i>m</i>)	129.2	C-1, C-3, C-4, C-5, C-6			
3/5	7.70 (2H, <i>m</i>)	129.8	C-2, C-4, C-5, C-6			
4	7.43 (1H, <i>m</i>)	128.4	C-2, C-3, C-5, C-6			
α	7.80 (1H, <i>d</i> , 15.6)	131.0	C-1, CO			
β	8.26 (1H, <i>d</i> , 15.6)	143.0	C-1, C-2, C-6, CO			
1'		106.2				
2'/6'		165.5				
3'	6.04 (1H, <i>s</i>)	94.7	C-1', C-2', C-4', C-5'			
4'		167.3				
5'	6.04 (1H, <i>s</i>)	94.6	C-1', C-3', C-4', C-6'			
4'-OCH ₃	3.82 (3H, s)	55.9	C-4'			
2'/6'-OH	12.02 (2H, s)		C-1', C-2', C-3', C-5', C-6'			
СО		193.5				

Table 3. ¹H (500 MHz), ¹³C (125 MHz) and HMBC NMR data of compound 2 (in acetone-d₆)



Figure 7. Structure of compound 2



Figure 8. HMQC and HMBC for compound 2

4.2.3 Characterization compound 3

Compound **3** was isolated as orange amorphous solid with melting points of 134-135 °C. The UV spectrum maximum (MeOH, $\lambda_{max, nm}$) were observed at 221 and 342 nm. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR (Table **4**) spectral pattern were similar to that of compound **1** except for the absence of one upfield shifted aromatic proton in compound **3**. The presence of five mutually coupled aromatic protons (δ_{H} 7.61-7.39) for mono substituted phenyl ring, *trans*-configured two olefinic protons (δ_{H} 7.81 and 7.91), two methoxyl groups (δ_{H} 3.93 and 3.91), a singlet shielded aromatic proton (δ_{H} 6.07) and chealeted hydroxyl proton (δ_{H} 14.36) clearly indicating that compound **3** is a derivative of compound **1**.

The ¹³CNMR (Table 4) spectrum showed signals for 17 carbon atoms including signals for two methyl groups, eight methine and seven quaternary carbon atoms. This indicated that it has additional substituent (hydroxyl group) on ring B at C-3'/6'. The position of the two methoxyl groups at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.93 ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 56.2) and $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.91 ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 61.0) were deduced from the downfiled chemical shift value ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 61.0) of the former methoxyl group indicating its devoid of planarity due to the presence of di-*ortho* substitution and hence these methoxyl groups were placed at C-3' ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 128.5) and C-4' ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 155.5), respectively.

Thus, based on the above evidence, compound **3** was found to be 2', 6'-dihydroxy-3', 4'dimethoxychalcone, trivial name pashanone (**3**), a compound previously isolated from *Polygonum ferrugineum* and *Polygonum hydropiper* [71, 72].

	Compound 3		Pashanone [72]
Position	$\delta_{\rm H}$ (<i>J</i> in Hz)	δc	$\delta_{\rm H}$ (<i>J</i> in Hz)
1		135.6	
2/6	7.61 (2H, <i>m</i>)	128.6	7.70 (<i>m</i> , 2H)
3/5	7.41 (2H, <i>m</i>)	129.0	7.50 (<i>m</i> , 2H)
4	7.39 (1H, <i>m</i>)	127.6	7.30 (<i>m</i> , 1H)
α	7.81 (1H, <i>d</i> , 15.6)	130.3	7.80 (<i>d</i> , 16, 1H)
β	7.91 (1H, <i>d</i> , 15.6)	142.7	7.92 (<i>d</i> , 16, 1H)
1'		106.6	
2'		159.0	
3'		128.5	
4'		155.5	
5'	6.07 (1H, s)	90.0	6.08 (s, 1H)
6'		159.2	
3'-OCH ₃	3.91 (3H, s)	61.0	3.92 (s, 3H)
4'-OCH ₃	3.93 (3H, s)	56.2	3.96 (s, 3H)
2'/ 6'-OH	14.36 (2H, s)		14.35 (s, 2H)
СО		193.4	

Table 4. ¹H (500 MHz), ¹³C (125 MHz) and HMBC NMR data of compound 3 (in CDCl₃)



Figure 9. Structure of compound 3

4.3 Antimicrobial Activities

The crude extracts (chloroform and methanol) and the isolated compounds (1, 2 and 3) were *in vitro* assayed (Table 5) against two bacterial strains (*Staphylococccus aureus* and *Escherichia coli*). The antibacterial activities of these extracts and the isolated compounds were comparatively assessed by the diameter of zone of inhibition in millimeters and zones of inhibition more than 6 mm were taken into consideration. Both extracts showed marginal inhibitory activities against both tested bacterial strains, with the highest activity is observed for chloroform extract against *Escherichia coli*.

The inhibition displayed on both Gram negative and Gram positive bacteria for the isolated compounds were good with variable degree of potency between the tested compounds. Compound **1** showed marginal activity against Gram-negative bacteria (*Escherichia coli*) while it has little or no inhibitory activity against Gram positive bacteria (*Staphylococccus aureus*). Whereas, compound **2** exhibited highest zone of growth inhibition (18 mm) on Gram-positive bacteria strain (*Staphylococccus aureus*), which is comparable to that of reference drug, gentamycin (19 mm) and has no activity against *Escherichia coli*. This is may be related to the polar/none polar nature of the compounds, as the two compounds differ from one another by presence of methoxy and free phenol at position C-6'.

It is therefore believed that compound **1** having a non-polar methyl ether moiety at C-6' can pass the outer lipid membrane of the Gram-negative bacteria. Whereas, Gram positive bacteria, which has no such outer membrane were expected to be most susceptible to the more polar compound **2**. Compound **3** showed comparable activity against both strains, as it possesses both polar and none polar groups.

The antifungal activities of crude extracts of chloroform, methanol, and compound **1**, **2**, **3**, against *Aspergillus spp*, *Trichoderma spp*, *Fusarium spp* and *Penicillium spp* were also determine with clotrimazole as reference standard. All extracts and isolated compounds exhibited antifungal activities against *Aspergillus spp* and *Fusarium spp*. The chloroform and methanol extracts revealed significantly higher inhibitory effect (30 mm) against *Aspergillus spp*, which was followed by compound **3** (20 mm) at the same incubation period. In addition to that, methanol and chloroform extracts exhibited equal antifungal activities (30 mm) against *Aspergillus spp* and (20 mm) against *Fusarium spp*. There was no activity exhibited by compound **1** against *Trichoderma*

spp and *Penicillium spp*. Whereas, compound **2** exhibited highest zone of growth inhibition (22 mm) against *Trichoderma spp* strain, which is comparable to that of reference drug, clotrimazole (20 mm).

Growth inhibition zone (mm)									
Crude extracts Isolated compounds Controls									
Strains	Gram	CE-1	CE-2	1	2	3	G	С	DMSO
S.aureus	+ve	12	10	NI	18	12	19	-	NI
E.coli	-ve	15	8	9	NI	13	17	-	NI
Aspergillus spp	-	30	30	10	15	20	-	23	NI
Trichoderma spp	-	14	18	NI	22	18	-	15	NI
Fusarium spp	-	20	20	10	19	20	-	22	NI
Penicillium spp	-	18.5	16.5	NI	10	14	-	15	NI

Table 5. Inhibition zone (mm) of crudes and isolated compounds for bacteria and fungus strains.

Key: CE-1 = Chloroform extract, CE-2 = Methanol extract, NI = No zone of inhibition, G = gentamycin, C = Clotrimazole, +ve = Gram-postive, -ve = Gram-negative.

5. Conclusion and Recommendations

5.1 Conclusion

The chromatographic separation of seed extract of *Persicaria lapathilium* led to the isolation of three pure compounds. These compounds were identified to be flavokawain B (1); cardamonin (2); and pashanone (3). The crude extract of chloroform and compound 2 showed considerable zone of inhibition in bacteria strains; *Escherichia coli*, and *Staphylococccus aureus*, respectively. However, compound 2 exhibited comparable growth inhibition for *Staphylococccus aureus* measured as 18 mm to the standard gentamycin 19 mm. The chloroform extract and the isolated compounds demonstrated significant antibacterial and antifungal activities with compound 2 showed highest zone of growth inhibition against *Staphylococccus aureus* and *Trichoderma spp* strains, which are comparable to that of reference drugs, which are almost comparable to that of gentamycin and clotrimazole. The scientific findings of the present study proved that the activities of the crude extract and the isolated compounds diseases as evidenced by the promising in vitro assay result.

5.2 Recommendations

- The present study used only gravity column with the help of ethyl acetate and petroleum ether as an eluent. Further phytochemical investigation on *P. lapathifolia* should be done using HPLC on the polar extracts of the plant. As a result, more phenolic compounds along with their glycosides could be identified.
- Chloroform and methanol solvents gave better extract yield and better antimicrobial activities which suggest that there are still more polar unidentified phenolic compounds present in the seeds of the plant.
- All extracts and isolated compounds exhibited antifungal activities against Aspergillus spp and Fusarium spp. and also compound 2 showed more activity against Gram positive bacteria rather than Gram negative bacteria; hence, the mechanism of action, the MIC and MBC for compounds should be studied further.
- More biological assay on other strains needs to be conducted on various extracts of the plant so as to establish the traditional use of the plant.

References

- 1. Zakaria, M. Isolation and characterization of active compounds from medicinal plants. *J. Asia Pacific Pharmacol.* **1991**, *6*, 15-20.
- 2. HMRC Compendium of medicinal plants used in Malaysia, Volume I and II. *Herbal Medicine Research Centre*. 2002.
- 3. WHO. Traditional Medicine Strategy. Trad. Med. Strategy. 2002-2005, 1-6.
- Salvet, A.; Antonnacci, L.; Fortunado, R.H.; Suarez, E.Y.; Godoy, H.M. Screening of some plants from northern Argentina for their antimicrobial activity. *J. Ethn. pharmacol.* 2001, *32*, 293-297.
- 5. Dias, D.A.; Urban, S.; Roessner, U. A historical overview of natural products in drug discovery. *Metabolites*. **2012**, *2*, 303-336.
- 6. Mishra, B.B.; Tiwari, V.K. Natural products in drug discovery: Clinical evaluations and investigations. *Nat. Prod. Med. Chem.* **2011**, 1-62.
- 7. Newman, D.J.; Cragg, G.M. Natural products as sources of new drugs over the last 25 years. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2007**, *70*, 461-477.
- 8. Rates, S.M.K. Plants as source of drugs. *Toxicon.* 2001, *39*, 603-613.
- 9. Keifer, P.A. NMR spectroscopy in drug discovery: Tools for combinatorial chemistry, natural products and metabolism research. *Prog. Drug. Res.* **2000**, *55*, 137-211.
- Satyajit, D.; Zahid, L.; Alexander, I. Natural product isolation Method. J. Biotec. 2001, 20, 1-7.
- Sasidharan, S.; Chen, Y.; Saravanan, D.; Sundram, K.M.; Latha, Y. Extraction, isolation and characterization of bioactive compounds from plants' extracts. *J. Afr. Trad. Comp. Alt. Med.* 2011, 8, 1-10.
- 12. Nassar, A.E.F.; Talaat, R.E. Strategies for dealing with metabolite elucidation in drug discovery and development. *Drug Discov. Today.* **2004**, *9*, 317- 327.
- Medicinal plants in danger thousands of medicinal species worldwide face extinction. http://www.suite101.com/article/medicinalplants/4, September, 2012. (Accessed on 20 July, 2017).
- Vicki, B. Back to Nature: Extinction of medicinal plants threatens drug discovery. J. Nat. Clin. Inf. Dis. 2008, 100, 838-839.
- 15. The American society of Pharmacognosy: Story of taxol.http://www.phcog.org/Taxus/T axus_Web.ht ml. 14 September, 2012. (Accessed on 20 July, 2017).

- 16. Li, J.W.H.; Vederas, J.C. Drug discovery and natural products: end of an era or an endless frontier. *Sci.* **2009**, *325*, 161-16.
- 17. Robbers, J.; Speedie, M.; Tyler, V. Pharmacognosy and pharmacobiotechnology. Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore, 1996, 1–14.
- 18. Hammer K.A.; Carson, C.F.; Riley, T.V. Antimicrobial activity of essential oils and other plant extracts. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* **1999**, *86*, 985-990.
- 19. Kasa, M. Antimalarial activities of local medicinal plants. *Trad. Med. Newsletter* (Ethiopia). 1991, 2, 1-3.
- Busmann, R.G.; Gilbreath, G.; Solio, J.; Lutuira, M.; Lutuluo, R.; Kunguru, K.; Wood, N.; Mathenge, S.G.; Kenya. J. Ethnbio. Ethnmed. 2006, 1186, 1746-4269.
- 21. WHO. Traditional medicine: Growing Needs and Potentials. Geneva. 2002
- 22. Patil, S.B.; Magdum, C.S. physicochemical and preliminary phytochemical screening of pods of *Prosopis cineraria* (*L*.) Druce. *J. European Exp. Bio.* **2011**, *101*, 51-56.
- 23. Svetaz, L.; Zuljan, F.; Derita, M.; Petenatti, E.; Tamayo, G.; Cáceres, A.; Filho, V.C.; Giménez, A.; Pinzón, R.; Zacchino, S.A.; Gupta, M. Value of the ethno medical information for the discovery of plants with antifungal properties. A survey among seven Latin American countries. *J. Ethnpharmacol.* **2010**, *127*, 137 - 158.
- Proestos, C.; Chorianopoulos, N.; Nychas, G.J.E.; Komaitis, M. RP-HPLC analysis of the phenolic compounds of plant extracts: Investigation of their antioxidant capacity and antimicrobial activity. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2005, *53*, 1190–1195.
- 25. Stanley, I. Isolation and characterization of antimicrobial compounds from the plants, *Erythrina abyssinica* DC. and *Chasmnthera dependens* Hochst. Msc thesis, Kenyatta university, 2012.
- 26. Shellard, E.J. The significance of research in to medicinal plant. Asofowora (Ed) African medicinal plants. 1979, 98-111.
- David, J.M. Mabberley's Plant-Book third edition. Cambridge University Press: UK. 2008.
- 28. Craig, C.F.; Reveal, J.L. "Polygonaceae". In Flora of North America Editorial Committee (editors). Flora of North America. Oxford University Press: New York, N.Y, USA. 2005, 5, 216-601
- 29. Hutchinson, J.; Dalziel, J.M. Flora of west tropical Africa revised by Keay RWJ. White friars, London. 2nd edition. Crown Agents. London; 1954.

- Wang, K.J.; Zhang, Y.J.; Yang, C.R. Antioxidant phenolic compounds from rhizomes of Polygonum paleaceum. J. Ethnpharmacol. 2005, 96, 483-487.
- 31. Antoine, H.L.; Nkuété.; Ludovico.; Migliolo.; Hippolyte, K. Evaluation of multiple functions of *Polygonum* genus compounds. *J. European Med. Plant.* **2015**, *6*, 1-16.
- Ciadella, A.M.; Cocucci, A.E. Flora fanerogámica Argentina, Fascículo *Polygonaceae*.
 Ed. Programa Proflora, CONICET, Córdoba, Argentina.1997, 43, 77
- 33. Luczaj, L. Archival data on wild food plants used in Poland. J. Ethnbio. Ethnmed. 2008, 4, 4.
- 34. Hu, B.; An, H.M.; Shen, K.P.; Song, H.Y.; Deng, S. Polygonum cuspidatum extract induces anoikis in hepatocarcinoma cells associated with generation of reactive oxygen species and down regulation of focal adhesion kinase. Comp. Alt. Med (Ecam). 2012, 9. http://doi.org/10.1155/2012/607675
- 35. State administration of traditional Chinese medicine. 1999, 1.
- 36. Song, J.H.; Kim, S.K.; Chang, K.W.; Han, S.K.; Yi, H.K. *In vitro* inhibitory effects of *Polygonum cuspidatum* on bacterial viability and virulence factors of *Streptococcus mutans* and *Streptococcus's obrinus*. *Archives Oral Bio*. 2006, *51*, 1131-1140.
- 37. Dzoyem, J.P.; Nkuete, A.H.; Kuete, V.; Tala, M.F.; Wabo, H.K.; Guru, S.K.; Rajput, V.S.; Sharma, A.; Tane, P. Cytotoxicity and antimicrobial activity of the methanol extract and compounds from *Polygonum limbatum*. *Plant med.* **2012**, *78*, 787-792.
- Rakesh, K.G.; Kalra, S.; Mahadevan, N.S.; Dhar, V.J. Pharmacognostic investigation of Polygonum nepalense. Int. J. Pharm. Res. 2011, 1, 40-44.
- Focho, D.A.; Newu, M.C.; Anjah, M.G.; Nwana, F.A. Ethnobotanical survey of trees in Fundong, Northwest Region, Cameroon. J. Ethnbio. Ethnmed. 2009, 5, 17.
- 40. Del Vitto, L.A.; Petenatti, E.M.; Recursosherbolarios, de San Luis (República Argentina).Primeira parte: plantasnativas. *Mendoza*. 1997, *6*, 49-66.
- 41. Ahmed, M.; Khaleduzzaman, M. Isoflavan-4-ol, dihydrochalcone and chalcone derivatives from *Polygonum lapathifolium*. *Phytochemistry*. **1990**, 29, 2009-2011.
- 42. PioCorrêa, M.; Dicionário, das plantasuteis do Brasile das exóticascultivadas. IBDF

Rio de Janeiro: Imprensa Nacional. 1978, 6.

- 43. Peng, Z.F.; Strack, D.; Baumert, A.; Subramaniam, R.; Goh, N.K.; Chia, T.F.; Tan, S.N.;
 Chia, L.S. Antioxidant flavonoids from leaves of *Polygonum hydropiper L. Phytochemistry*. 2003, 62, 219-228.
- 44. Singh, G.; Kachroo, P. Forest Flora of Srinagar and plants of Neighborhood. Bishen Singh Mahendra Pal Singh: Delhi, India. 1976, 27-218.
- Coffey, T. The history and folklore of North American wild flowers. Houghton Mifflin: Boston, USA. 1994, 36-189.
- 46. Moerman, D. Native American ethnobotany. Timber Press: Portland, Oregon, USA. 1998, 42, 691.
- 47. Duwiejua, M.; Zeitlin, I.J.; Gray, A.I. The anti-inflammatory compounds of *Polygonum bistorta*: Isolation and characterisation. *Plant Med.* **1999**, *65*, 371-374.
- 48. Matsuda, H.; Shimoda, H.; Morikaw, T.; Yoshikawa, M. Phytoestrogens from the roots of *Polygonum cuspidatum*: Structure requirement hydroxyl anthraquinones for estrogenic activity. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2001, *11*, 1839-1842.
- 49. Sun, X.; Sneden, A.T. Neoflavonoids from *Polygonum perfoliatum*. *Plant Med.* **1999**, 65, 671-673.
- 50. Murai, Y.; Kashimura, S.; Tamezawa, S.; Hashimoto, T.; Takaoka, S.; Asakawa, Y.; Kiguchi, K.; Murai, F.; Tagawa, M. Absolute configuration of (6S,9S)-roseoside from *Polygonum hydropiper*. *Plant Med.* **2001**, *67*, 480-481.
- Kim, H.J.; Woo, E.R.; Park, H. A novel lignin and flavonoids from *Polygonum aviculare*. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1994**, *57*, 587-596.
- 52. Datta, B.K.; Datta, S.K.; Rashid, M.A.; Nash, R.J.; Sarker, S.D. A sesquiterpene acid and flavonoids from *Polygonum viscosum*. *Phytochemistry*. **2000**, *54*, 201-205.
- 53. Nonaka, G.; Miwa, N.; Nishioka, I. Stilbene glycoside gallates and proanthocyanidins from *Polygonum multiflorum*. *Phytochemistry*. **1982**, *21*, 429-432.
- 54. Wang, K.J.; Zhang, Y.J.; Yang, C.R. Antioxidant phenolic compounds from rhizomes of *Polygonum paleaceum. J. Ethnpharmacol.* **2005**, *96*, 483-487.
- 55. Rakesh, K.G.; Kalra, S. Pharmacognostic investigation of *Polygonum nepalense*. *Int. J. Pharm. Res.* **2011**, *1*, 40-44.
- 56. Batovska, D.I.; Todorova, I.T. Trends in utilization of the pharmacological potential of chalcones. *Curr. Clin. Pharmacol.* **2010**, *5*, 1-29.

- Kubinova, R.; Porizkova, R.; Bartl, T.; Navratilova, A.; Cizek, A.; Valentova. M. Biological activities of polyphenols from *Polygonum lapathifolium*. *Plant Med. Arom*. 2014, *13*, 506-516.
- 58. Brandao, G.C.; Kroon, E.G.; Duarte, M.G.; Braga, F.C. Antimicrobial, antiviral and cytotoxic activity of extracts and constituents from *Polygonum spectabile* mart. *Int. J. Phytother. pharmacol.* 2010, 17, 926-929.
- 59. Tamilselvan, N.; Thirumalai, T.; Elumalai, E.K.; Balaji, R.; David, E. Pharmacognosy of Coccinia grandis; a review. *Asian Pacific J. Trop. Biomed.* **2011**, 299-302.
- 60. Li, Y.; He, X.; Liu, Z.; Huang, Y.; Lan, Y. Chemical constituents of flowers from *Polygonum orientale. J. Chinese Mat. Med.* **2009**, *34*, 2613-2615.
- 61. Wang, A.; Chi, M.; Wang, Y.; Li, Y.; Fu, X. Simultaneous determination of eight components in *Polygonum orientale* by ultra-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC) method. *J. Chinese mat. med.* **2010**, *35*, 1723.
- 62. Hyun, K.; Yeon, H.C.; Jae, S.C. A new stilbene glucoside gallate from the roots of *Polygonum multiflorum. Archives Pharmacol. Res.* **2008**, *31*, 1225-1229.
- 63. Nanasombat, S.; Teckchuen, N. Antimicrobial, antioxidant and anticancer activities of Thai local vegetables. *J. Med. Plant. Res.* **2009**, *3*, 443-449.
- 64. Dzoyem, J.P.; Nkuete, A.H.; Kuete, V.; Tala, M.F.; Wabo, H.K.; Guru, S.K. Cytotoxicity and antimicrobial activity of the methanol extract and compounds from *Polygonum limbatum*. *Plant. med.* **2012**, *78*, 787-792.
- 65. Leu, Y.L.; Hwang, T.L.; Hu, J.W. Anthraquinones from *Polygonum cuspidatum* as tyrosinase inhibitors for dermal use. *Phyto. ther. Res.* **2008**, *22*, 552-556.
- 66. Yu, C.X.; Zhang, X.Q.; Kang, L.D.; Zhang, P.J.; Chen, W.W.; Liu, W.W. Emodin induces apoptosis in human prostate cancer cell. *J. Asian Andrology*. **2008**, *10*, 625-634.
- 67. Midiwo, J.O.; Omoto, F.M.; Yenesew, A.; Akala, M.H.; Wangui, J.; Liyala, P.; Wasunna, C. The first 9-hydroxyhomoisoflavanone, and antiplasmodial chalcones, from the aerial exudates of *Polygonum senegalense*. *ARKIVOC*. 2007, *9*, 21-27.
- Lopéz, S.N.; Sierra, M.G.; Gattuso, S.J.; Furlán, R.L.; Zacchino, S.A. An unusual homoisoflavone and structurally related dihydrochalcone from *Polygonum ferrugineum* (*Polygonaceae*). *Phytochemistry*. 2006, 67, 2152 - 2158.
- 69. Marina, R.; Anna-Maria, K. Aurones: A Promising Heterocyclic Scaffold for the Development of Potent Anti-leishmanial Agents. *Int. J. Med. Chem.* **2012**, *8*.

- 70. Shimomura, H.; Sashida, Y.; Mimaki, Y.; Oohara, M.; Fukai, Y. A Chalcone derivative from the bark of *Lindera umbellate*. *Phytochemistry*. **1988**, *27*, 3937-3939.
- 71. Lopez, S.N.; Furlan, R.L.; Zacchino, S.A. Detection of antifungal compounds in *Polygonum ferrugineum* wed extracts by bioassay-guided fractionation: Some evidences of their mode of action. J. Ethnpharmacol. 2011, 138, 633-636.
- 72. Kurkina, A.V.; Ryazanova, T.K.; Kurkin, V.A. Flavonoids from the aerial part of *Polygonum hydropiper. Chem. Nat. Com.* **2013**, *49*, 845-847

Appendixes

Appendix 1A: ¹H NMR spectrum of Flavokawain B (1), CDCl₃, 500 MHz



Appendix 1A: Expand ¹H NMR spectrum of Flavokawain B (1), CDCl₃, 500 MHz



Appendix 1B: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Flavokawain B (1), CDCl₃, 125 MHz



Appendix 1B: Expand ¹³C NMR spectrum of Flavokawain B (1), CDCl₃, 125 MHz



Appendix 1C: HMQC spectrum of Flavokawain B (1), CDCl₃, 500 MHz



Appendix 1D: Expand HMQC spectrum of Flavokawain B (1), CDCl₃, 500 MHz



Appendix 1E: Expand HMBC spectrum of Flavokawain B (1), CDCl₃, 500 MHz



Appendix 1F: HMBC spectrum of Flavokawain B (1), CDCl₃, 500 MHz



Appendix 1G: Expand HMBC spectrum of Flavokawain B (1), CDCl₃, 500 MHz



Appendix 1H: NOESY spectrum of Flavokawain B (1), CDCl₃, 500 MHz





37



Appendix 1J: ESI-MS spectrum of Compound 1

Appendix 1K: UV- VIS Spectroscopy for compound 1.





Appendix 2A: ¹H NMR spectrum of cardamonin (2), Acetone, 500 MHz

Appendix 2B: ¹H NMR spectrum of cardamonin (2), Acetone, 500 MHz





Appendix 2C:¹³C NMR spectrum of cardamonin (2), Acetone, 125 MHz

Appendix 2D: ¹³C NMR spectrum of cardamonin (2), Acetone, 125 MHz





f1 (ppm)

Appendix 2E: HMQC spectrum of cardamonin (2), Acetone, 500 MHz

12.0 11.5 11.0 10.5 10.0 9.5 9.0 8.5 8.0 7.5 7.0 6.5 6.0 5.5 5.0 4.5 4.0 3.5 3.0 2.5 2.0 1.5 f2 (ppm)

Appendix 2F: Expand HMQC spectrum of cardamonin (2), Acetone, 500 MHz







Appendix 2H: HMBC spectrum of cardamonin (2), Acetone, 500 MHz







Appendix 2J: ESI-MS spectrum of Compound 2



45



Appendix 2K: ESI-MS spectrum of Compound 2







Appendix 3A: ¹H NMR spectrum of pashanone (3), CDCl₃, 500 MHz

Appendix 3B: ¹H NMR spectrum of pashanone (3), CDCl₃, 500 MHz







Appendix 3D: ¹³C NMR spectrum of pashanone (3), CDCl₃, 125 MHz



161 160 159 158 157 156 155 154 153 152 151 150 149 148 147 146 145 144 143 142 141 140 139 138 137 136 135 134 133 132 131 130 129 128 127 126 f1 (pm) Appendix 3E: UV- VIS Spectroscopy for compound **3**.



Appendix 4A: Zone of growth inhibition for crude and isolated compounds of bacteria and fungi











Aspergillus spp.

Fusarium spp.

Penicillium spp.

Trichoderma spp.